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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

ROCK HILL DIVISION 
DOCKET NO.: 

MorningStar Fellowship Church, 

PLAINTIFF, 

vs. 

York County, South Carolina; James E. 
Baker; and Houston “Buddy” Motz,  

DEFENDANTS. 

Verified Civil Rights Complaint 42 USC. 
§1983; 42 USC. §1985 (Conspiracy
among actors to violate Civil Rights);
First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments 
of the United States Constitution; South 
Carolina Constitution, Article 1, Section 2; 
S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-20, also known as
the South Carolina Religious Freedom 
Act; Declaratory Judgment, Injunctive 
Relief against Defendant York County; 
Demand for Jury Trial  

NOW COMES plaintiff, MorningStar Fellowship Church, by and through its undersigned 

council, and alleges and says: 

1. MorningStar Fellowship Church (hereinafter “MorningStar”) is an evangelical

Christian church and ministry operating primarily in Fort Mill, York County, South 

Carolina. 

2. MorningStar also has a nonprofit corporation which was formed under the laws of

the state of Mississippi. 

3. MorningStar owns property and operates its ministry headquarters in York

County, South Carolina. 
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4. The defendant, York County, is a political subdivision of the State of South 

Carolina. 

 

5. Upon information and belief, the defendant Houston “Buddy” Motz (hereinafter 

“Buddy Motz”) is a citizen and resident of York County, South Carolina and is the 

former chairman of the York County Council. 

 

6. Upon information and belief, the defendant James E. Baker was a citizen and 

resident of York County, South Carolina and was the former County Manager for 

York County, South Carolina. 

 
7. Upon information and belief, the defendant James E. Baker is now a citizen and 

resident of Chesapeake, Virginia and has been the Chesapeake City Manager 

since January 14, 2013. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

8. This is an action for injunctive relief and damages pursuant to 42 USC § 1983, 

based upon the continuing violation of the plaintiff's rights under US. Const. 

amend. I, V, and XIV. 

 

9. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to 28 USC §§ 1331 and 1343, based on 42 USC § 

1983 and questions of federal constitutional law. 
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10. Jurisdiction also exists pursuant to 28 USC §§ 2201(a) and 2202. 

 

11. Supplemental jurisdiction over plaintiff’s state law claims is pursuant to 28 USC § 

1367. 

 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 

12. MorningStar is a large, evangelical Christian ministry with its principal 

headquarters in Fort Mill, South Carolina. 

 

13. MorningStar has an international ministry that reaches virtually every nation. 

Books published by MorningStar have been bestsellers around the world, and 

have been translated into over 50 languages. 

 

14. MorningStar also operates an internet protocol television network known as 

MorningStar TV, and hosts Christian conferences on its properties in Fort Mill 

featuring speakers from all over the world and hosting attendees from all over the 

world. 

 

15. MorningStar's principal evangelical facilities and headquarters in Fort Mill are the 

same properties that were once owned by a large evangelical ministry known as 

PTL, and formerly headed by Jim and Tammy Bakker. 
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16. The PTL Ministry began to subside soon after 1987, when its former founder, 

Reverend Jim Bakker, resigned from the ministry. 

 

17. Before Rev. Bakker’s resignation, PTL had grown to become one of the largest 

and most well-known ministries in the world, and a pioneer in Christian television 

as it built and operated an international television network. It also built and 

operated a large conference center that drew Christians from around the world to 

its events on its properties in Fort Mill. At that time, it was estimated that up to six 

million people visited the property each year, making it the third most popular 

destination in America after Disney World and Disneyland. 

 

18. From the time of Rev. Bakker’s resignation until 2004, the properties which PTL 

once owned passed through several owners, including the late Reverend Jerry 

Falwell, of Lynchburg, Virginia, and bankruptcy until the facilities were closed in 

1997 and the property remained dormant for seven years. 

 

19. In 2004 the PTL property was divided between several developers, and 

MorningStar purchased the Heritage Grand Hotel and Conference Center, which 

included the “Tower” and 52 acres. 

 

20. MorningStar purchased the dormant PTL property, through one of its subsequent 

owners, on September 27, 2004. 
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21. Because the property had been dormant for seven years, it needed substantial 

repair and renovation before any of it could be put to use in MorningStar's 

ministry. 

 

22. MorningStar spent about $15 million renovating the Grand Hotel and Conference 

Center, which it then began to operate as its headquarters, and to host its 

international conferences, its K-12 school, and MorningStar University which has 

courses for Associate’s Degrees through Doctorates in theology and other 

subjects associated with Christian ministry. 

 

23. While MorningStar is an evangelical Christian organization and ministry 

recognized around the world, committed to New Testament Christianity and to 

the spreading of the Gospel of Jesus Christ, it did not share the same vision for 

the property as set forth by PTL, but devoted the property mostly to its 

headquarters operations, to education, and to its church fellowship that it 

described as a “womb to the tomb” ministry to Christians of all denominational 

and national backgrounds. 

 

24. The properties MorningStar acquired from the old PTL property include: 1) The 

Heritage Grand Hotel and Conference Center; 2) Heritage Court, a development 

for senior citizens; 3) The Comenius School for Creative Leadership (K-12 

school); and 4) The Heritage Tower project designated as a community and 

ministry for its senior citizens. 
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25. The only property that had not been completely finished, initially, at the time of 

Jim Bakker's resignation, was the Heritage Tower, a 21-story partially completed 

building consisting of 500 plus residential rooms. 

 

26. As will be described below, the County's hostile and discriminatory conduct 

toward MorningStar based on religious discrimination is in relation to The 

Heritage Tower that is the basis of this lawsuit.  

 

27. The Heritage Tower had originally been dedicated for a Christian evangelical 

purpose as part of the original PTL Ministry. 

 

28. Ironically, it was the construction of the Tower that originally led in part to Jim 

Bakker's substantial legal issues, which resulted in the case of United States vs. 

Bakker, prosecuted in the United States district court in Charlotte, in 1989, the 

Honorable Robert Potter presiding. 

 

29. The essence of the charges against Jim Bakker were that he had oversold 

memberships to the Tower, being convicted and initially sentenced to 45 years. 

 

30. Jim Bakker’s sentence was later reduced to 8 years after a new sentencing 

hearing was ordered by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in Richmond. 
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31. The Fourth Circuit was concerned about statements made by Judge Potter at 

trial. 

 
32. Judge Potter’s statement that "those of us who do have a religion are sick of 

being saps for money-grubbing preachers and priests" was evidence that the 

judge had injected his religious beliefs into Bakker's sentence. 

 

33. As will be seen, in this case, the background of the Bakker case is relevant 

because that case became the subject of anti-religious and anti-Christian 

comments by County officials, with at least one public official, namely the 

Defendant Mr. Motz, attempting to falsely suggest that PTL and MorningStar are 

one in the same.  

 

34. Defendant Motz was serving as Chair of the York County Council, when he made 

anti-religious and constitutionally discriminatory comments, as will be explained 

in more detail below, and those comments have come into play concerning the 

future and disposition of the Heritage Tower. 

 

35. Nonetheless, when MorningStar purchased the old PTL property, MorningStar 

hoped to also use the Tower as a tool of its international outreach and ministry, 

with its vision to be further detailed later.  

 

36. But, first it had to determine the structural durability of the Tower, and whether, 

from an engineering standpoint, the Tower could be completed. 
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37. MorningStar at the time commissioned various engineers and experts to examine 

the feasibility of completing the Tower. 

 

38. MorningStar’s initial engineering reports, in the 2005 – 2006 timeframe, and as 

recently as 2007, revealed that the Tower was structurally sound, and not only 

capable of completion, but it would take only a minimal cost to bring it up to 

present code and standards. 

 

39. As recently as the spring of 2018, updated engineering reports provided to 

MorningStar shows that the Tower remains structurally sound. 

 

40. Even the county, through its officials, has conceded that the Tower is structurally 

sound. 

 

41. The Tower structure is in the center of MorningStar’s 45-plus acre campus, with 

no public roads or adjoining property near its location. 

 

42. The Tower is securely locked and has perimeter fencing, lighting and security 

systems, thus providing no public safety concerns. 

 

43. For example, County Council member Paul Lindeman, on March 8, 2010, to York 

County resident Paul Heinrichs, that “This is not a time for MorningStar to 
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demolish the building. The only thing that MorningStar is in default is a deadline 

the county gave them on the development Agreement. That was to show the 

building was structurally sound (they did that), show a comprehensive plan for 

the property (they did that) and find or have a funding source for the project (they 

didn't do that).” 

 

44. As will be described below, MorningStar was, in fact, well on its way to acquiring 

funding for The Tower project when the County violated its agreement with 

MorningStar and slapped a default notice on the ministry preventing it from 

getting financing for the project. 

 

45. Legally, however, a “default” cannot exist pursuant to an agreement, which is the 

product of an unconstitutional ordinance, and where the agreement itself is used 

as an unconstitutional tool by the county government to interfere with a church’s 

1st Amendment rights to worship as the church sees fit.  

 

Morningstar’s Religious Vision for The Tower 

Under Ephesians 4:11-13, et. al 

 

46. At the core of MorningStar’s vision and purpose, as a ministry, is to fulfill the 

biblical mandate to “Honor your fathers and mothers…” as well as the biblical 

mandate to honor the elders, or elderly, which is connected to its reason for 

completing The Tower Project as an Active Adult Community. 
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47. The Heritage Towers project is especially devoted to Christian seniors who want 

to make their senior years their most fruitful, being given an opportunity to serve 

in the church, missions, and especially the schools as mentors and teachers of 

the emerging generations. 

 

48. Likewise, MorningStar wants to use the Heritage Tower Project, as part of its 

religious vision and worship, to help teach the emerging generations in their 

schools how to honor their fathers and mothers, and the elderly, by serving them, 

and getting to know them as the deep resource of experience and wisdom that 

can be of such a benefit to the emerging generations. 

 

49. MorningStar is also committed to obeying the biblical mandate found in 

Ephesians 4 that all believers are to be equipped for ministry in some form, and 

MorningStar has been teaching and practicing this for the entire time of its 

existence. 

 
50. Heritage Towers has been described in MorningStar teachings and literature as a 

place where the elders can spend their senior years in service to the Lord in an 

environment of likeminded people that is affordable and conducive to ministry 

opportunities. 

 

51. It is also a core purpose of MorningStar, according to its teachings and 

publications, that it is devoted to the biblical mandate to restore the fallen. This is 
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taken from Galatians 6:1-2, “Brethren, even if anyone is caught in any trespass, 

you who are spiritual, restore such a one in a spirit of gentleness; each one 

looking to yourself, so that you too will not be tempted. Bear one another's 

burdens, and thereby fulfill the law of Christ.” 

 

52. As part of the church’s religious beliefs and doctrines, believers, first and 

foremost, have a biblical mandate to restore, which is followed by MorningStar as 

part of its Constitutionally-protected freedom of worship. This mandate is found in 

Acts 3, in one of the most well-known sermons in all of Scripture, where Peter 

speaks of “the restoration of all things…” 

 

MorningStar’s Commitment to Biblical Stewardship as an 

Act of Worship in Completing its Tower 

 

53. MorningStar’s commitment to complete its Tower, as an act of worship, flows 

from its commitment to the biblical mandate of stewardship. 

 

54. A number of biblical verses speak to the mandate of stewardship. 

 

55. God’s first command given to man, at Genesis 2:15, was to “tend the garden” he 

had put man in. Biblical scholars have estimated that between 30% and 50% of 

all biblical teachings on righteousness have to do with stewardship. 
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56. For this reason, MorningStar has taught and seeks to obey this mandate of 

stewardship, and considers the Tower to be part of its mandate for stewardship. 

 

57. In 2008, the Tower was valued at approximately $11,889,000 in its unfinished 

condition and it would be a violation of this basic biblical mandate and 

responsibility for MorningStar to allow this property, with which it has been 

entrusted, to be wasted or destroyed. 

 

58. At the time MorningStar purchased the old PTL property in 2004, its president, 

Rick Joyner, sent out the following letter to MorningStar members, entitled 

MorningStar special bulletin number 5 of 2004, dated on or about September 27, 

2004: 

 
a. The buildings are in considerable disrepair and it will be a long, hard, 

expensive job to restore them. However, worse than the condition of the 

buildings is the stigma and reproach that is on them. Our goal is to 

completely restore the buildings to better than new condition, along with 

their reputation. We believe this property, which was used to bring 

humiliation and reproach to the worldwide Body of Christ, is called to 

become a testimony of God's heart for redemption and restoration. 

 
b. Since the fall, the restoration has been the primary work. We believe this 

property can be a sign of what He is about. Peter wrote in Acts 3:19, 

repent therefore in return, that your sins may be wiped away, in order that 
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times of refreshing May come from the presence of the Lord, and that he 

may send Jesus, the Christ appointed for you, who Heaven Must receive 

until the period of restoration of all things about which God spoke by the 

mouth of his Holy prophets from ancient time. 

 

59. Not long after the purchase of the property and the revelation of the tower's 

sacred valued and ability to be restored, Morningstar sought to restore all the old 

PTL buildings, including Tower, and it considers the restorations of those building 

an act of worship to the Lord. 

 

60. MorningStar believes that restoration of these buildings including the Heritage 

Tower, is an act of worship as an act of obedience to the biblical mandate, which 

is protected by the United States Constitution for the purpose of bringing glory to 

God, and in Rick Joyner’s own words, to become a testimony of God's heart for 

redemption and restoration. 

 

61. There have been numerous instances in Biblical history where the construction of 

buildings and monuments have been considered to be an act of worship, and 

MorningStar does believe that in some instances a call to build, or even to 

complete is an act of worship and obedience to God. 

 

62. In MorningStar’s constitutionally-protected religious beliefs, several examples 

from the Bible where building and worship coincided are as follows: (1) God 
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ordered the Israelites through Moses to build the first tabernacle of God in the 

wilderness after they had left Egypt; (2) King David erected a tabernacle for God 

in Jerusalem; and (3) his son, King Solomon built the first temple in Jerusalem, 

and the rebuilt temple by Ezra. All of these, and others were done in obedience 

to God. 

 

63. MorningStar likewise, believes that the completion of the Heritage Tower falls 

along those lines, and that the church is mandated to complete it as an act of 

worship for the glory of God, and also to serve as an instrument of God as part of 

its free exercise of religion under the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. 

 

64. MorningStar’s end-use of the Tower, upon completion, is envisioned as an act of 

worship, and a free exercise of its religious beliefs, which includes a calling to 

provide pastoral care to retirement-age believers called to a similar Christian 

vision as MorningStar. 

 

65. These verses are also found throughout the Bible. Among these verses, which 

MorningStar adheres to as its vision of its Constitutionally-protected freedom of 

worship, are the following (quoting the English Standard Version of the Bible in 

this case): 
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a. Leviticus 19:32 ESV: You shall stand up before the gray head and 

honor the face of an old man, and you shall fear your God: I am the 

Lord. 

 

b. 1 Timothy 5:1-2 ESV: Do not rebuke an older man but encourage 

him as you would a father, younger men as brothers, older women 

as mothers, younger women as sisters, in all purity. 

 

c. Exodus 20:12 ESV: Honor your father and your mother, that your 

days may be long in the land that the Lord your God is giving you. 

 

d. Psalm 71:9 ESV: Do not cast me off in the time of old age; forsake 

me not when my strength is spent. 

 

e. Proverbs 23:22 ESV: Listen to your father who gave you life, and 

do not despise your mother when she is old. 

 
f. 1 Timothy 5:4 ESV: But if a widow has children or grandchildren, 

let them first learn to show godliness to their own household and to 

make some return to their parents, for this is pleasing in the sight of 

God. 
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g. Ephesians 6:2 ESV: Honor your father and mother (this is the first 

commandment with a promise). 

 

h. Isaiah 46:4 ESV: Even to your old age I am he, and to gray hairs I 

will carry you. I have made, and I will bear; I will carry and will save. 

 
i. Proverbs 16:31 ESV: Gray hair is a crown of glory; it is gained in a 

righteous life. 

 

66. These verses, and others make up the purpose of the church’s use for Heritage 

Tower. 

 

67. This vision was laid out and embraced by the church long before MorningStar 

ever had any type of dispute with the County. 

 

68. Based upon this vision, MorningStar, through its leadership, had placed upon it a 

vision for the Tower as a “refirement center,” where like-minded, retirement-age 

believers from all over the world could come, receive the blessings of 

MorningStar’s pastoral care in the most efficient manner possible, and could 

worship together and pray together and live together consistent with 

MorningStar’s call to pray for restoration of the church around the world. 
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In October of 2006, MorningStar Pastor, Rick Joyner, described the ministry 

vision for the Tower in this matter. “This can be a great asset for the body of 

Christ, and we want it as strong and as nice as it possibly can be for our elders. 

Would want it to be the best senior center on the planet, truly getting everyone 

who comes to live there to get fired up for the Lord, missions, and spending the 

last years of their life and the fruitful ministry. We want our elders last year's to be 

there very best years, and I believe they will be, so lively and full of fire and zeal 

for the Lord. that it will challenge the rest of the ministry.” 

 

69. In an April, 2007 newsletter to MorningStar members, Pastor Rick Joyner again 

spoke of the vision for the Heritage Tower. In this case he wrote that, “There is 

another important purpose that we have--- To model some things that can be 

duplicated in the other churches. We must take care of our elders. This is the 

most basic way we can obey the Commandments to honor our fathers and 

mothers so that our days may be long in the land which the Lord has given to us 

(see Deuteronomy 5:16)”. 

 

70. In the July of 2007 MorningStar newsletter, Pastor Rick Joyner gave additional 

information concerning the religious vision for the Heritage Tower. “Our main 

goal for this facility is to make it an “on ramp” for ministry in missions, including 

teaching in our schools, writing, editing, prophetic music, and art, and in every 

way providing leadership for emerging generations. These can be part-time or 

full-time endeavors. Qualified residents will be elders seeking to spend their last 
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years as their most fruitful.” Mr. Joyner continued, “The common areas will be 

designed to be very comfortable and conducive to fellowship, study, personal 

ministry, prayer, and gatherings of different sizes.” 

 

71. Here's how MorningStar Pastor, Rick Joyner, defined the religious vision for the 

Tower in volume three of a MorningStar Journal, page 110, published in 2008. 

“This community will be especially choosing to promote a lifestyle engaged in 

ministry, missions, and the raising up of true apostles, prophets, evangelists, 

pastors, and teachers who would have a high impact on the church and our 

time.” 

 

72. More was written on the religious vision for the Tower in the MorningStar 

Newsletter of November 2010, the MorningStar Pastor, Rick Joyner, shared this 

part of the vision. “In the stress of these times, communities like this are going to 

be much more popular. It is just an amazing experience to be in a full-time 

community with on-fire believers who are committed to the work of the Kingdom. 

It's great to be able to get up almost any day and join in the worship and 

intercession we have for 2 hours before classes at MSU, or sit in the classes, or 

join in the meetings at night.” 

 

73. From MorningStar’s standpoint, and in the exercise of its religious beliefs, the 

Tower had, and continues to have, a special religious purpose and a divine 
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sacred purpose for the advancement of MorningStar's ministry, to the glory of 

God. 

 

74. MorningStar Fellowship Church also holds as a core value, the biblical mandate 

from Matthew 25:35 ESV: For I was hungry and you gave me food, I was thirsty 

and you gave me drink, I was a stranger and you welcomed me.” In this text 

Jesus taught that as we do to the least of His people, we are considered to have 

done it for Him. As elders tend to be those often ignored or forgotten, 

MorningStar is resolved to teach all of its members that the way we treat them 

will be consider the way that we treated the Lord Himself, and therefore we must 

seek to provide the very best for them.  The Tower, therefore, is a means of 

fulfilling Morningstar’s biblical mandate to provide a home for elderly believers in 

an environment where other like-minded believers can live and worship together.   

 

75. Armed with new engineering studies proving that the Tower was structurally 

sound, MorningStar set out to begin restoring all of the real estate that it had 

purchased in Fort Mill on the old Heritage campus, the old PTL campus, and 

began renovations and updates on the properties. 

 

76. MorningStar began its work of restoration on the old PTL property by restoring 

common areas that could first be used for worship, and then offices, then 

meeting areas. Then it began to restore rooms in the Heritage Hotel to be a 
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conference and retreat center for worshippers from around the world to come to 

for teaching and fellowship. 

 

77. As each of the components of the old PTL property were restored for use in 

worship, MorningStar gave glory to God, because the restoration of the property, 

including physical restoration with which it has been entrusted in Fort Mill, was 

and remains an act of worship for MorningStar and for its members. 

 

78. MorningStar received a Certificate of Occupancy to hold services in the foyer of 

the Grand Hotel in December of 2004, which turned out to be seven years to the 

day from when the property had been closed. 

 

79. Renovations continued, and MorningStar began to restore and open the rest of 

Heritage Hotel. As rooms were opened, believers from around the world, 

including missionaries, pastors, teachers and others came to stay, either short 

term or long term, to worship together and to pray together for God’s restoration 

of the church worldwide. Some of MorningStar’s conferences have had as many 

as sixty-five nations represented, and virtually all major denominations. 

 

80. As reconstruction progress on the Grand Hotel and Conference Center 

continued, MorningStar turned its attention to completing the Heritage Tower. 
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81. Up until this point, it had proceeded with renovating each of the separate building 

projects on the campus individually, by pulling construction permits as might be 

necessary, and by completing each project before it on what was basically a one-

project-at-a-time basis. 

 

YORK COUNTY AND THE  

SOUTH CAROLINA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ACT 

 

82. However, when time came to complete construction on the Heritage Tower, York 

County threw a new wrinkle into the equation, a mandated “Development 

Agreement” which called for destruction of the Tower if the County’s arbitrary 

demands were not completed. 

 

83. MorningStar’s leaders did not understand the County's reasoning or purpose in 

insisting upon the execution of this Development Agreement, and was aware of 

no other entities, either churches or entities at that time, which the county had 

required to enter into similar agreements. 

 

84. Nonetheless, in trusting the county officials, and in trying to be a good neighbor, 

MorningStar was left with no other alternative except to execute the Development 

Agreement on January 13, 2008. 
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85. MorningStar had seen nothing from the county at that time which would cause it 

to question the County's motives, and had seen nothing from any individual 

County council members that could be construed as anti-religious or 

discriminatory towards MorningStar because of its Christian beliefs. 

 

86. The Development Agreement that the county has insisted upon was entered into 

on January 13, 2008 and had a five-year term which was to expire on or about 

January 12, 2013. 

 

87. The Development Agreement was entered into pursuant to a fairly new piece of 

legislation in South Carolina, known as the “South Carolina Local Government 

Development Agreement Act,” found at Section 6-31-10, et al, of the South 

Carolina Code of Laws, unannotated.  

 

88. Neither anyone at MorningStar, nor anyone working for MorningStar at the time 

had ever heard of the South Carolina Local Government Development 

Agreement Act, but cooperated with the county because the county had insisted 

upon the execution of this particular document. 

 

89. The South Carolina Development Agreement Act had been passed into law by 

the South Carolina General Assembly in 1993. 
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90. The Development Agreement in this case was to primarily apply to the Heritage 

Tower project, and included various prerequisites that the county wanted 

MorningStar to complete in order to finish building the Tower project. 

 

91. Under Section 6- 31- 30 of the South Carolina Development Agreement, only 

local governments are authorized to enter into these agreements, and the 

“Development Agreement must be approved by the governing body of a county 

or municipality by the adoption of an ordinance.”  

 

92. In other words, in this case, for a Development Agreement to be applied to a 

church, the law actually requires, under Section 6-31- 30, that an ordinance be 

passed, in conjunction with that agreement. 

 

93. York County did in fact pass two ordinances (the ordinances) regarding the 

Development Agreement with MorningStar, and that ordinance was passed on 

November 5, 2007. 

 

94. These two ordinances were numbered York County ordinance number 1807, and 

1807a. 

 

95. Of the two ordinances adopted on November 5, 2007, it was ordinance number 

1807a (the ordinance) that dealt with the issuance of a subsequent Development 

Agreement between MorningStar and York County. 
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96. The ordinance was signed on behalf of York County by the defendant Houston 

O. Motz, Jr., who at that time was Chairman of the York County Council. 

 

97. Upon information and belief, the ordinance was signed by the defendant Mr. 

Motz in his capacity as Chairman of the York County Council.  

 

98. The ordinance was attested to by the defendant Mr. James E. Baker, who at the 

time was York County Manager. 

 

99. Upon information and belief, the ordinance was signed by Mr. Baker in his 

capacity as York County Manager.  

 

100. At the time the ordinance was passed, MorningStar had not yet entered into any 

subsequent Development Agreement with York County concerning the Tower. 

 

101. As previously stated, the Development Agreement itself was not entered into until 

January 13th, 2008, over two months after the ordinance was passed by York 

County.  

 

Factual and Constitutional Issues with Ordinance 1807a 
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102. Within the context of Ordinance 1807a, two problems arose that are both legally 

and constitutionally problematic. 

 

103. First, at Section 1(c), on page 2, the ordinance incorrectly states that 

“MorningStar Fellowship Church has requested that York County Enter into a 

Development Agreement for the property described as “Exhibit A” to this 

ordinance, pursuant to the South Carolina Local Government Development 

Agreement Act (hereinafter “Development Agreement Act), S.C. Code Ann. § 6-

31 et seq.,   ….” etc. 

 
104. This recitation in the ordinance is not correct. The request for the Development 

Agreement came from the County, not from MorningStar. 

 

105. MorningStar simply wanted to complete the 21-story Tower that had already 

been built as far as the core structure, but needed to be finished. 

 

106. As has been outlined, completion of the Heritage Tower was not only an act of 

worship for MorningStar as part of its core Vision, but also a part of its religious 

vision and purpose moving into the future.  

 

107. The fact is that York County officials suggested the idea of a Development 

Agreement to MorningStar, encouraged MorningStar to enter into a Development 

Agreement, and suggested that the only way for MorningStar to complete its 
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Tower is to enter into a Development Agreement, which first had to be approved 

by local ordinance passed by the County Council. 

 

“Exhibit B” Incorporated into the Unconstitutional Ordinance 

 

108. Not only does the recitation in the ordinance claiming that York County requested 

Development Agreement constitute factual error, but above and beyond that, the 

ordinance references, and in fact encloses, as “Exhibit B” its proposed 

Development Agreement with York County, and thus that proposed agreement, 

became part of the legal ordinance. 

 

109. In fact, the ordinance itself, at the bottom of page 2 and at the top of page 3, 

provides in relevant part as follows: “Council finds that the Development 

Agreement between York County and MorningStar Fellowship Church, 

substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, should be authorized and 

approved by the adoption of an ordinance in accordance with the requirements of 

the South Carolina Local Government Development Agreement Act, S.C. Code 

Ann. § 6-31 et seq.” 

 

110. The council did approve the agreement by the adoption of an ordinance, thus 

giving the proposed agreement the full force and effect of law. 
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111. The proposed agreement, now passed as an ordinance in November of 2017, 

became constitutionally impermissible in that it called for destruction of church 

property which is inextricably a part of the religious vision and worship for 

MorningStar Fellowship Church. 

  

112. The relevant language which is constitutionally problematic is set forth at page 5, 

Section 3C of the proposed agreement, at Exhibit B of the ordinance, entitled 

“ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY,” Under the subheading at Paragraph C entitled 

Bonds or Letter of Credit.  

 

113. The ordinance in that section uses language which infringes upon MorningStar’s 

freedom of worship without detailing any “compelling state interest” for doing so. 

 

Unconstitutional Ordinance seeks Agreement to Abolish 

A Sacred Property and Place of Worship 

Central to MorningStar’s Religious Vision, Heritage and Worship 

 

114. Constitutionally problematic language in this section of the agreement, 

incorporated as part of the legal ordinance, is as follows: “Should there be a 

failure to complete the project, County may demolish the Tower and defray the 

cost by drawing down the entire principal amount of the demolition bond or 

financial equivalent.” 
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115. Thus, the county has curiously reserved unto itself the power to destroy Church 

property, but not merely Church property, rather a Tower, which is part of 

MorningStar's religious vision, whose completion is part of MorningStar’s actual 

worship experience. 

 

116. This Heritage Tower is not simply another piece of real estate. It contains and 

has significant religious significance to MorningStar and its members and its 

worship. 

 

117. Yet, without any “compelling state interest”, the county is, strangely and without 

explanation, reserved power by public ordinance to destroy that instrument of 

worship for MorningStar. 

 

118. The heavy-handed approach foisted by York County against MorningStar, to try 

and find a statutory basis to destroy a property which MorningStar considers 

sacred, notably the Heritage Tower, is at odds with the South Carolina Religious 

Freedom Act, found at S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-20. 

 

119. The South Carolina Religious Freedom Act, provides in relevant part that the 

purposes for the Act are to: 

 

(1) restore the compelling interest test as set forth in Wisconsin v. Yoder, 

406 U.S. 205 (1972), and Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398 (1963), and to 
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guarantee that a test of “compelling state interest” will be imposed on all 

state and local laws and ordinances in all cases in which the free exercise 

of religion is substantially burdened; and (2) provide a claim or defense to 

persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State.  

 

120. In this case, the complete restoration of the Heritage Tower, even the act of 

completing its construction is, in fact, part of MorningStar’s free exercise of its 

religion. 

 

121. MorningStar considers the act of physically completing the Tower, that means 

completing the construction that still needs to be done, an act of worship to God, 

and that process is protected by its First Amendment right to a free exercise of 

religion.   

 

122. As the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act mandates a restoration of the 

““compelling state interest” test as set forth in several landmark United States 

Supreme Court cases protecting religious liberty, including Wisconsin v Yoder, 

except for that above, so too must any attempted Development Agreement which 

impacts a church comply with that clear mandate of “compelling state interest” 

and not impose a religiously discriminatory effect by the terms of the agreement.  
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123. In this case, however, the ordinance passed by the County to allow the execution 

of the development agreement does not set forth any “compelling state interest” 

at all, which would be accomplished by the destruction of the Tower. 

 

124. There is no allegation in the ordinance, for example, that the Heritage Tower, 

even in its current incomplete state, poses any type of hazard to the public in 

general, or danger to the public in general, or any other compelling reason for the 

state to step in and destroy a religiously significant building, even in an 

incomplete state, which is not only the property of this church, but a significant 

part of its religious vision. 

 

125. There is no attempt in the ordinance to articulate a “compelling state interest” 

justifying the Tower’s destruction. 

 

126. The South Carolina Religious Freedom Act at Section 1 - 32 – 40, consistent with 

the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution, is specific in imposing high burdens upon the state or its 

subdivisions when it comes to enacting legislation which will serve as an 

impediment to a citizen or to a church is free exercise of worship. 

 

127. The stringent requirements placed upon the state or its principalities for 

subdivisions, Including the government of York County, are as follows:  
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SECTION 1-32-40. Restriction on state's ability to burden exercise of 

religion. 

The State may not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, 

even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability, unless the 

State demonstrates that application of the burden to the person is: 

(1) in furtherance of a “compelling state interest”; and 

(2)  the least restrictive means of furthering that “compelling state 

interest”. 

HISTORY: 1999 Act No. 38, Section 1. 

 

128. In this case, the statute does not, in any way, shape, or form, state or articulate 

any state interest, let alone the legally required standard of a “compelling state 

interest,” to justify the destruction of a monument and of a building which is been 

standing for years and which is integral to the worship of MorningStar Fellowship 

Church. 

 

129. In fact, both the mandatory destruction of the building, and the bonding 

requirement, both of which are forced upon MorningStar by the unconstitutional 

ordinance and under the Development Agreement itself,  but neither of which 

were forced upon the real estate developers in the other two Development 

Agreements entered into by the County, pursuant to county ordinances, not only 

shows the county’s determination to abandon its constitutional requirement of 

equal protection of law, by treating the church in a matter much more harshly 
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than it has treated the developers, but also constitutes an unreasonable burden 

upon Morningstar’s attempts to engage in its constitutionally-protected religious 

practices and freedom of worship. 

 

130. Therefore, the language of the county ordinance authorizing the Development 

Agreement, in and of itself, violates the clear requirement of the South Carolina 

Religious Freedom Act, which places high burdens upon governmental entities 

within the State of South Carolina to articulate such a “compelling state interest” 

prior to passing legislation or taking action against churches, synagogues, places 

of worship, and individuals seeking to assert their rights to freedom of religion of 

the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, and the South Carolina 

Constitution.  

 

131. In this regard, Article 1, Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution is clear. It 

provides as follows: 

 

132. Thus, the South Carolina Constitution provides the identical language protecting 

freedom of religion that is found in the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. 
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133. Moreover, Article VIII, Section 17 South Carolina Constitution also limits local 

governments to passing laws which are not prohibited by the South Carolina 

Constitution. 

 

134. Consistent with the prohibitions of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution, and the strict, “compelling state interest” standards of the South 

Carolina Religious Freedom Act, likewise, the arbitrary passage of this ordinance 

by the York County Council, which imposes religious restrictions against 

MorningStar Church, without articulating any “compelling state interest”, also 

violates Article 1 Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution and also violates 

Article VIII, Section 17 for the South Carolina Constitution. 

 

135. After the passage of County Ordinance 1807a, on November 5, 2007, the county 

then proceeded to press MorningStar into signing the accompanying 

Development Agreement which would give the county the power to destroy 

MorningStar's Heritage Tower. 

 

136. York County would not agree to allowing MorningStar to complete the Tower 

project unless the agreement was signed. 
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137. MorningStar did not, and never has initiated the request of a Development 

Agreement as alleged by the ordinance referred to herein.  

 

138. Upon information and belief, neither MorningStar Church, nor any of its pastors, 

nor its president, had ever heard of a Development Agreement, nor had the 

church or its leaders ever heard of the South Carolina Local Government 

Development Agreement Act, nor did MorningStar request the issuance of any 

Development Agreement with the county. 

 

139. At the time that negotiations were taking place to allow MorningStar to complete 

the Tower, and thus to complete its act of worship in rebuilding the Tower and to 

continue with this worship by using the Tower in accordance with a religious 

vision, MorningStar has selected two gentlemen who attempted to work on its 

behalf with the county. 

 

140. Morningstar was initially opposed to doing the Development Agreement.  

 
141. The only thing Morningstar was initially interested in, and remains interested in, is 

simply securing building permits from the County, to allow it to complete 

construction of its sacred Tower.   

 

142. However, upon information and belief, it was the newly-hired York County 

Director of Planning that had the idea, saying that the Development Agreement 

0:18-cv-03077-JMC     Date Filed 11/14/18    Entry Number 1     Page 34 of 96



35 

was the only way that MorningStar would be allowed to move forward with the 

building, or words to that effect.  

 

143. One of these gentlemen working for MorningStar at the time was Mr. Gary 

Sanderson, who was the construction manager assigned by MorningStar to 

complete the project. 

 

144. Mr. Sanderson has stated, and continues to state, that the county required 

MorningStar to agree to signing the Development Agreement, which allowed for 

the destruction of the religious site, before it would allow MorningStar to go 

forward with completing the project, or words to that effect 

 

145. Mr. Sanderson has also indicated that there was a great deal of animosity 

directed toward MorningStar by County officials because of the previous actions 

by the PTL Ministry, although in reality, MorningStar had nothing to do with the 

now-defunct PTL Ministry, or words to that effect. 

 

146. The other gentleman working on behalf of MorningStar was Mr. Patrick Selvey, 

who was the MorningStar representative attempting to negotiate with the county 

for permission to complete the project.  
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147. Mr. Selvey also recalls the apparent animosity reflected towards MorningStar, by 

the seeming attitude of County officials, and also recalls the insistence by County 

officials that MorningStar enter into the Development Agreement.  

 

148. Nevertheless, because MorningStar had no other choice but to enter in the 

Development Agreement to seek permission for the county to complete the work 

that had already nearly been completed anyway, and because there was no 

reason to believe at that time that the county or that County officials would 

engage in deliberately religious discrimination in such a matter aim to destroy 

MorningStar’s place of worship that was in progress, MorningStar did in fact sign 

a Development Agreement on January 13, 2008, more than two months after the 

county had passed the unconstitutional ordinance reflected above. 

 

149. In the recitation section of the Development Agreement, at page one, it is 

stipulated that the parties enter into the Development Agreement pursuant to, 

and in accordance with the requirements of the South Carolina Local 

Government Development Agreement Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-3-10 et seq. 

 

150. Therefore, the Development Agreement (The “Agreement”) was wrapped into, 

and adopted under the legal authority of the unconstitutional statute. 

 

151. The agreement contained a provision declaring that it would terminate in five 

years, unless mutually extended by both parties.  
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152. The automatic five-year termination provision is found at Section 10, Para. C, of 

the Development Agreement. 

 

153. Even though MorningStar did not understand, at the time, that the Development 

Agreement it had entered into was based upon a statue that was 

unconstitutional, nor did it have any reason to believe that the county would in 

fact use the statute and the agreement to attempt to destroy its sacred property, 

MorningStar, proceeded in good faith, and began feasibility work and engineering 

studies as the beginnings of the first step towards completing the sacred Tower.  

 

154. MorningStar’s engineering architectural and development work as well as 

feasibility studies as part of the first phase for completing the Tower cost 

approximately 1.2 million dollars.  

 

155. As a result of that work, MorningStar submitted a site plan in the fall of 2008 to 

the county, expecting the county to conduct a good-faith review of the plan, to 

approve it, and to let MorningStar finish this sacred construction project.  

 

156. However, the county did not initially approve the plan, and continued discussing 

and negotiating matters about the plan with MorningStar for many months.  
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157. There were several sections within the Development Agreement which dealt with 

the development plan, which would later become the County's crux for attempting 

to use its power to destroy MorningStar’s Tower project. 

 

158. One of these sections was Section VII, Paragraph A, which states that, “Prior to 

site plan approval, developer shall sign the County's non-reimbursable extension 

agreement,” which provided for relocation and extension of water and sewer 

lines. 

 

159. Another section, Section VII, Paragraph C, reiterates this same requirement. 

 

160. Still, and without adequate explanation, York County continued to refuse to 

deliver a formal approval of the plan, and did not hold the meetings specified to 

be conducted with all relevant parties prior to Site Plan approval. 

 

161. Even without formal approval from the County, MorningStar continued to work on 

the project, which it considered to be an act of worship simply to complete, and 

considered the project to be sacred, and expended significant funds on 

architectural and engineering work. 

 

162. MorningStar still believed, at that point, and at various times in 2008 and 2009, 

that the County would operate in good faith, and did not know about the county 

official’s true anti-religious motives in seeking destruction of its sacred Tower. 
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163. When MorningStar grew increasingly concerned about the County’s delays in 

approving the site plan, and had not even called the meetings required before the 

site plan could be approved, MorningStar requested an explanation from the 

county for this.  

 
164. On or about Thursday, February 4, 2010 representatives of MorningStar 

Fellowship Church tried to verbally discuss the Development Agreement, 

Progress of the Project, need for clarification and other areas in a “Good Faith” 

manner.  

 

165. Representatives of MorningStar Fellowship Church were told verbally by County 

Administrator James Baker at the meeting of February 4, that he had previously 

contacted members of York County Council, or words to that effect, informing 

them of a potential breach of contract and had predetermined to “advice for 

notice of default, or words to that effect,” which would cause reputable and 

significant financial hardship to MorningStar Fellowship Church. 

 
166. Moreover, placing MorningStar in “default,” in and of itself, amounts to a religious 

discriminatory act, because the default creates a “catch-22 situation,” whereby 

MorningStar cannot bonding cause of the presence of the “default,” and thus, 

cannot worship as it sees fit through the use of it sacred tower.   

 
167. On or about Thursday, February 4, 2010 representatives of MorningStar 

Fellowship Church tried to verbally discuss the Development Agreement, 
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Progress of the Project, need for clarification and other areas in a “Good Faith” 

manner. 

 

168. To the shock of the MorningStar project team and church leadership, on or about 

March 5, 2010, the county notified MorningStar that it was “in default” under the 

Development Agreement, because MorningStar, supposedly, had not provided 

the county with performance and payment bonds as required in Section IV, 

Paragraph C of the agreement even though York County had never provided 

MorningStar with the specifically required notice in the Development Agreement 

that the site plan had been approved by the county. 

 

169. In a good-faith effort to further maintain communications, and seek resolution of 

the county’s concerns, on March 9, 2010 MorningStar Vice President Dave 

Yarnes wrote County manager James Baker, addressing MorningStar’s concerns 

about a lack of response from York County. 

 

170. In referencing previous letters that MorningStar had written the county on 

February 4, February 10 and February 17, 2010, Mr. Yarnes in his March 9th 

letter stated that, “we have received no official response from yourselves or 

anyone at your organization,” and “We have not so much as received a courtesy 

response that our information was received and is being reviewed.” 
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171. After raising concerns about statements made by county officials to the media, 

Mr. Yarnes again requested copies of information and notices that the county 

had not received. 

 

172. Mr. Yarnes closed by making the following request of the county: “We are hereby 

requesting that if any official information has been sent to us previously that we 

are unaware of, that evidence of such delivery be produced, including alleged 

site plan notifications.  We are also requesting reasons for our previous 

communication being ignored.” 

 
173. None of Mr. Yarnes’ request, as set forth in his letter of March 9, 2010, were ever 

complied with. 

 

174. The Development Agreement specifically states that official notices such as Site 

plan approval will be sent to Pastor Rick Joyner by Certified Mail at the address 

given. No such notice was ever sent to Mr. Joyner, as specified in the 

agreement, even though this was crucial in starting the time in which the church 

had six months to acquire the bonds.  

 

175. Instead the county answered the church’s inquiry about the status of the Site 

Plan approval that the county was about to issue the default notice that the 

church had not complied with the terms of the agreement to get the bonds 

required.  
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176. The county’s formal notification in writing to MorningStar of approval of the site 

development plan, which was the prerequisite that would trigger the bonding 

process, under a 180-day time frame from formal notification of approval, as set 

forth in the Development Agreement, had never been delivered by the County to 

MorningStar. 

 

177. After receiving the so-called “notice of default,” MorningStar tried to reach out to 

York County to work out any misunderstandings. Even though provisions were 

included in the Development Agreement for working out such misunderstandings 

the church was rebuffed in all of its efforts to do this by York County officials, who 

continued to maintain that the church was in default. 

 

178. During this time, MorningStar believes that York County did everything in its 

power to conceal the site plan, to conceal the approval process, to avoid 

clarification on the approval by refusing to respond to notices and information 

requests, delivered by certified mail, from MorningStar, all in an attempt to 

achieve their true intention of invoking an unconstitutional demolition clause to 

destroy sacred church property central to MorningStar’s worship. 

 

179. A mediation was commenced in an effort to resolve the issue, and the parties, 

proceeded to mediate over the next 18 months, during which MorningStar 

attempted to persuade the County to lift the “default” so that it would be able to 

secure bonding arrangements as required by the Development Agreement.  
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180. MorningStar repeatedly told the County that it had not received any written notice 

of the approval of the agreement, and pointed to clear language within the 

contract which clearly indicated that any and all legal notices under the contract 

should have been sent via certified mail to MorningStar Pastor Rick Joyner.  

 

181. The County attempted to argue, however, that it had given notice when it 

supposedly communicated with private engineers in Charlotte, North Carolina 

who have been working on the project on behalf of MorningStar.   

 

182. The testimony of the engineers, and all other workers on the project was that no 

such notice had been given them by the county about the site plan approval, and 

no one suspected that it had been given because the meetings specified to be 

held before the site plan approval had never been held. 

 

183. Inexplicably, York County officials maintained that some sort of informal 

communication with a private engineer in Charlotte was enough notice to allow it 

to now declare MorningStar in “default” even though this was in direct violation of 

how official notices were to be given personally to Pastor Joyner by Certified 

Mail. 

 

184. To this day, the County has been unable to produce any letter, any sort of 

writing, or any sort of formal notification to MorningStar that it had approved the 
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site development plan, as set forth on page 17 of the Development Agreement, 

with notice requirements that are clear: 

  

 

185. Sadly, from MorningStar’s perspective, it became obvious that the County was 

simply seeking an excuse, through the “default,” for a “gotcha” moment for 

purposes of finding an excuse to force MorningStar start to destroy this valuable 

part of the church’s property, the MorningStar Heritage Tower.   

 

186. By declaring that MorningStar was allegedly in “default,” the county effectively 

prohibited MorningStar from being able to secure any bonding or financing of the 

Tower project. 

 

187. Yet the county insisted that MorningStar get the bonding and financing of the 

project before they would lift the “default,” thus essentially placing the church into 

a “catch-22” situation, as no prudent financial institution would issue a bond on a 

project already in “default” by a municipality. 

 

188. MorningStar continued to suffer serious financial losses from the County's 

arbitrary “default” declaration, including losses of engineering funds and other 

reconstruction expenses, as well as make all of its other financial needs nearly 

impossible. 
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189. When MorningStar and the county went to mediation, terms were agreed upon to 

rectify the impasse with two of the country commissioners representing the 

county in mediation and agreeing to the terms.  

 

190. When all that was required to settle this issue was a vote by the York County 

Council to approve it, the Council voted unanimously to reject it, including the 

“no” vote by the two who had negotiated the settlement. 

 

191. With this it became obvious that the County’s goal was to force the church into a 

predicament whereby a sacred Church property would be destroyed, without any 

“compelling state interest” for destruction of a sacred monument and sacred 

church building, the Heritage Tower. 

 

The Development Agreement Act Encourages Parties to Work Out Differences When 

Stalemates Occur, but York County Refused to  

Work in Good Faith to Work Out Any of Its Differences with MorningStar.  

 

192. Despite the fact that the Development Agreement itself, and the South Carolina 

Development Agreement Act, both contain language which encourage parties to 

work out their differences and to work toward the completion of a project, York 

County continued to resist any workout, obviously doing everything in its power 
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to bring about a destruction of sacred Church property, without any “compelling 

state interest” to justify destruction of the Tower. 

 

193. Consider, for example, language from the “purposes” section of the South 

Carolina Development Agreement Act from section (B)(2) of the Act:  

 

(2) “Assurance to a developer that upon receipt of its development permits 

it may proceed in accordance with existing laws and policies, subject to 

the conditions of a Development Agreement, strengthens the public 

planning process, encourages sound capital improvement planning and 

financing, assists in assuring there are adequate capital facilities for the 

development, encourages private participation in comprehensive planning, 

reduces the economic costs of development, allows for the orderly 

planning of public facilities and services, and allows for the equitable 

allocation of the cost of public services.” 

 

194. Note the very first words of that section. The developer, in this case the church, 

is to be ensured that it will receive development permits so that its property may 

continue to be built out. 

 

195. County’s insistence that a status of a “default” remain as MorningStar sought 

bonding, certainly has blocked the issuance of any permits or the possibility of 
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MorningStar getting any permits to complete its project in the of the development 

of the Heritage Tower.  

 

196. In other words, the county’s continued insistence on claiming that a default 

existed, and the claim that it continues to maintain, even though the 

Development Agreement expired over five years ago, violates the Spirit, if not the 

letter of the South Carolina Development Agreement Act, which by its language 

is supposed to give developers a reasonable expectation that their permits will be 

issued. 

 

197. Unable to persuade the county to show any type of reasonable resolution with 

regard to the declaration of a so-called “default,” which served no meaningful or 

articulable purpose, nor did it advance a “compelling state interest”, other than to 

advance what appeared to be a resolve to destroy the church’s property, 

MorningStar had no choice but to file a lawsuit. 

 

198. The church initially brought suit in the Court of Common Pleas in York County, 

and filed on January 24, 2013.  

 

199. In its initial suit filed in State Court, MorningStar sought a declaratory judgment 

concerning the County's apparently arbitrary actions under the Development 

Agreement, by its use of a so-called “default” mechanism to actively prevent 

0:18-cv-03077-JMC     Date Filed 11/14/18    Entry Number 1     Page 47 of 96



48 

MorningStar from getting bonding that was needed to complete his obligations 

under the agreement.  

 

200. The county answered and counterclaimed, seeking to have MorningStar destroy 

the Tower, a building of considerable unique and independent religious 

significance to MorningStar, without justifying any “compelling state interest” in 

forcing the destruction of the sacred Tower. 

 

201. Under the County's counterclaim, it set out to destroy the Tower on two separate 

legal bases, including: (1)  the Development Agreement, even though its own so-

called default had manufactured a roadblock to prevent MorningStar from being 

able to comply with the other terms of that  agreement; and (2), under a 

“nuisance” theory, even though the county itself had actively blocked each and 

every effort that MorningStar attempted to follow to effectuate repairs upon the 

property , and even denying basic permits to allow MorningStar to maintain the 

property during the pendency of litigation. 

 

202. As an example of this, as recently as the Spring of 2017, MorningStar applied for 

a routine construction permit to do work on the Tower simply as a maintenance 

measure. 

 

203. That permit request was denied by the County, on or about August 24, 2017 

using the excuse that the matter was in litigation. 
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204. The county’s denial is set forth in this paragraph below: 

 

205. By denying even basic, routine permits to allow MorningStar to perform 

maintenance on its own property, as recently as the spring of 2018, the County 

took even further steps in a continued pattern of arbitrary discrimination against 

MorningStar, in violation of both the Free Exercise Clause with the First 

Amendment, and the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  

 

206. That there may be ongoing litigation between York County at MorningStar in the 

state courts is not a compelling reason to deny MorningStar its request to 

perform basic and routine maintenance on its own property other than a 

discriminatory, anti-religious animus in the County’s attitude and practices in 

dealing with MorningStar. 

 

207. So on the one hand, the County brings a counterclaim against MorningStar 

seeking to destroy MorningStar’s property on the theory that it is a “nuisance,” 

but on the other hand, denies basic permits for construction on maintenance of 

the Tower, thus denying MorningStar’s attempt to avoiding  the alleged 

“nuisance.”  
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208. This marks an inexplicable contradiction by the County which underscores the 

County’s true motives, which are to destroy a sacred religious property and a 

place of future worship for MorningStar, without any “compelling state interest” 

for doing so, and exhibits inexplicable and unconstitutional religious 

discrimination towards MorningStar.    

209. In its counterclaim in the Court of Common Pleas, at paragraph 44, York County 

admits that “the Development Agreement has a stated duration of five years, 

after which the agreement automatically terminates according to its terms unless 

extended by mutual written agreement.” 

 

210. The counterclaim was filed on March 25, 2013, more than five years after the 

execution of the Development Agreement, and after any authority that the County 

may have had under the Development Agreement, to bring about destruction of 

the Tower, had already expired.  

 

211. Thus, according to the County's own admission, the Development Agreement 

had expired by the time it filed its counterclaim.  

 

212. Nonetheless, the county tried to force MorningStar to destroy a sacred building, 

through the expired   Development Agreement, which demonstrates the County’s 

prejudicial motives in seeking to destroy the Tower, a property of sacred religious 

significance and central to MorningStar’s worship experiences.   
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213. After the state lawsuit got underway, the parties engaged in reciprocal discovery, 

and MorningStar found shocking evidence, which showed the County's true 

intentions with regard to the church, revealing the County’s unconstitutional 

discriminatory attitude against the Church in its exercise of its religious activities. 

 
214. Evidence discovered, including two emails from high-ranking county officials 

explains the County’s seemingly obsessive determination to destroy the Tower, 

at all costs, without dictating or articulating any significant “compelling state 

interest” for the Tower’s destruction. 

 

The anti-Religious, Discriminatory email from The Chair of The County Council  

 

215. The slanderous and defamatory email which was sent out by the Chairman of the 

County Council included the following language: 

 

“Thanks Jim. I see them as being in the same mode as the old PTL, and 

just as scheming. They are only out to fleece the investors of the units and 

bilk them for every dime they can get. The county has delayed this for too 

long and I see no reason for us to allow them to continue further. It would 

not be accepted for other businesses and it should not be allowed for 

them.” 

 

A copy of the email sent by the Chairman of the County Council, the defendant 

Mr. Motz, is attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

0:18-cv-03077-JMC     Date Filed 11/14/18    Entry Number 1     Page 51 of 96



52 

 

216. First, the Chair of the County Council, Mr. Motz, in his email, by referring to 

MorningStar as a “business,” demonstrates his total lack of understanding of the 

protection under the Constitution afforded to churches, to Christians, and to 

people seeking to worship as they see fit. 

 

217. MorningStar is not, and never has been, a “business.” 

 

218. Even the Development Agreement clearly refers to MorningStar as a “church,” 

and never calls it a “business.”  

 

219. Thus, rather than showing any type of respect for the religious beliefs and right to 

worship belonging to MorningStar and its members, the Chair of the County 

Council, Mr. Motz, accuses MorningStar, without any substantiation, evidence, or 

reason to say so, of criminal activity, and certainly false defamatory activity, 

without a basis in evidence, or in rational fact. 

 

220. The phrases the County Chairman uses demonstrate his hatred and blatant 

disrespect for the church and its members; namely phrases such as “fleece,” and 

“bilk.” 

 
221. Upon information and belief, Motz’s use of the phrase “investors,” in referring to 

Christians from around the world who come to MorningStar and hope to live at 

the Heritage Tower, as if they were some sort of stock investors, shows the 
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Chairman's callousness and insensitivity to freedom of worship as guaranteed by 

the First Amendment of United States Constitution, and frankly, a high-

handedness and a contempt towards the church, and towards the believers who 

are a part of the church, and towards their religious beliefs and practices. 

 

222. These Christians who seek to live at Heritage Towers are entitled, under the 

Constitution, to worship the Lord by seeking to engage in ministry, missions, 

prayer, and teaching, free from the Chairman’s insults, and without mandated 

dictates and governmental obstruction and interference in how they choose to 

worship. 

 

223. Moreover, the Chairman's declaration that MorningStar is seeking to “bilk” these 

Christians, who he contemptuously refers to as “investors,” for “every dime they 

can get,” demonstrates a constitutionally discriminatory vindictiveness against a 

Christian organization whose goals, methods of worship, and fellowship desires 

to be with fellow like-minded believers. are apparently at odds with the 

Chairman’s personal beliefs.  

 

224. Frankly, the relationship and vision for worshipping the Lord that is shared 

between MorningStar and its members, is, under the Constitution, not the 

Chairman's concern, nor the county’s concern as long as the laws of the land are 

obeyed, which MorningStar Fellowship Church is committed to both doing and 

teaching, and has never been accused of breaking. 
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225. The Chairman's email sets out a clear example of anti-Christian discrimination, 

and unleashes a shocking tirade of petty vindictiveness and an all-out assault on 

religious freedom that the First Amendment sets out to protect Americans 

against, especially from government officials. 

 

226. The email, in such a mean-spirited, and vindictive tone, was circulated by an 

elected official, namely the chair of the County Council, an elected official sworn 

to uphold the Constitution, to attack the church’s most basic religious freedoms, 

not only violates the spirit, and the letter, and the intention of the South Carolina 

Religious Freedom Act, but also of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. 

 
227. The email also shows the arrogance, contempt, and vindictiveness, by an elected 

County official against a Christian organization that is discriminatory against 

MorningStar Church and against its members in violation of their rights to equal 

protection under the 14th Amendment, and is a violation of the Church and its 

members, attempting to exercise their rights of freedom of religion and worship 

under the First Amendment of the Constitution.  

 

228. Not only did the Chair of the council direct the mean-spirited and hateful email to 

the County Manager, but he also took the liberty to circulate it to others in the 

York County government. 
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229. For example, he copied County Commissioner Joe Cox with the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email. 

 

230. By 2014, Mr. Cox had risen to the position of a vice chair of the council. 

 

231. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Mr. David Harmon, who, upon information and belief, 

was the Assistant County Manager of York County. 

 

232. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Ms. Tonya Huell, who, upon information and belief, 

was serving as the clerk to the County Council. 

 

233. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Mr. David Larson, another county employee, who at 

that time, and upon information the belief, was also serving as an Assistant 

County Manager. 

 

234. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Mr. Melvin McKeown, a member of the York County 

Bar and lawyer in Rock Hill, who at that time was serving as County Attorney for 

York County. 
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235. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Ms. Linda Norris, who, upon information and belief, at 

that time was serving as executive assistant to the County Manager. 

 

236. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Former York County council member Roy Blake. 

 

237. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Anna Moore, who, upon information and belief, was 

also at the time serving as an Assistant County Manager to York County.  

 

238. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Ms. Teria Sheffield, who, at that time, was upon 

information and belief, working as an executive assistant to the county manager, 

but who in June of 2014 became the Purchasing Director for York County. 

 

239. The Chairman of the Council, the Defendant Mr. Motz, also sent the anti-religious 

and discriminatory email to Ms. Susan Britt, who, upon information and belief, 

was serving at the time as Director of the York County Planning and 

Development Services Department. 

 

240. Ms. Britt, then turned around, and sent and disseminated the anti-religious and 

defamatory email to Mr. David Pettine, who upon information and belief is from 
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York County, and who at the time served upon the steering committee of a group 

known as “VISION 2020: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FOR ROCK HILL, 

SOUTH CAROLINA.”  

 

241. Even before Mr. Motz and Miss Britt disseminated the anti-religious and 

discriminatory email, the York County Manager at the time, Jim Baker, had 

moments earlier had sent an email in which he declared a need to “Take a strong 

stance” against MorningStar by delivering to MorningStar “a notice of default.”  

 

242. In his email, Mr. Baker predicated the County’s plan for destruction of the tower 

on whether MorningStar will be able to get financing, or words to that effect. 

 

243. Here is part of what Mr. Baker said, when he decided to take a public stance 

against MorningStar: “More than anything else, staff and I believe the council 

should take a strong stance and give notice of default to MorningStar if they 

cannot provide the financial assurances that were promised in a Development 

Agreement they signed on April 28, 2008.” 

 

244. Of course, naturally, no reason is articulated for Mr. Baker and the staff’s opinion 

as to why the council should take a so-called “strong stance” against 

MorningStar, a religious institution entitled to First Amendment Protections.   
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245. No “compelling state interest” is articulated for Mr. Baker and the staff’s opinion 

as to why the council should take a so-called “strong stance” against 

MorningStar, a religious institution entitled to First Amendment Protections. 

 

246. The York County government is not being harmed in any way by the still yet-to-

be completed Heritage Tower sitting in the middle of 52 Acres of MorningStar’s 

property, and causing no harm to anyone by its presence on the property. 

 

247. There is, for example, no articulation by Mr. Baker, Mr. Motz, or anyone else of 

any type of danger, either in the unconstitutional ordinance cited above, or the 

“take a strong stance” email, regarding the Tower sitting there all alone, off to 

itself, in the midst of a 52-acre lot of private property. 

 

248. This “take a strong stance” provision is not only constitutionally problematic, as it 

shows government actively working and scheming to violate a church and group 

of believers seeking to exercise their freedom of worship as the church sees fit, 

but it also violates the spirit of the Development Agreement itself, and several 

actual sections of the agreement. 

 

249. For example, the Development Agreement contained a mandate for good-faith 

resolution, as shown in the language below: 
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250. The County, however, did not even answer MorningStar’s correspondence, as 

set forth above, let alone act in “good faith” to “resolve the situation.” 

 

251. It is clear, in retrospect, and based upon the conduct of the County, that the 

County was not interested in resolving anything, except to carry out its original 

objective of destroying the Tower, by passing an unconstitutional ordinance then 

using an unconstitutional development agreement as a means of carrying out 

that unconstitutional objective.  

 

252. Curiously absent from Baker’s “take a strong stance” email are any details 

concerning MorningStar's lack of a notice that the site development plan had 

been approved, nor was there any notice in the email to other county officials that 

MorningStar was on the short end of a deliberate, county-orchestrated time-

frame for securing bonding because of the county’s failure to give notice. 

 

253. Baker in his email at least implies that MorningStar cannot get financing, but fails 

to reveal that the bonding issue is caused by the county’s own action to issue an 

arbitrary “default” notice, placing MorningStar in a position where attaining 

financing or bonds would become difficult if not impossible.   
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254. Even if Baker’s allegation were true, the financing, or lack thereof, is not a 

relevant litmus test or excuse for a governmental position against a religious 

institution seeking to worship in the way it sees fit.  

 

255. It is frankly none of the government’s business, and should be none of the 

County’s concern on whether MorningStar could procure financing. 

 
256. Even if it were true that MorningStar could not “get financing,” there are, upon 

information and belief, citizens all over York County, each and every day, who 

cannot get financing for various projects, whether that be an inability to get 

financing for construction of a home, or financing for a car, or financing for a 

business loan, or for a host of other reasons. 

 
257. Most notably, the Development Agreement states on page 16 that "the Parties 

acknowledge that market conditions may, and will likely, affect the pace and 

character of the development of the Property. 

 
258. The Development Agreement goes on to say that, “Therefore, the Parties agree 

that they shall take into account, and shall direct the mediator(s) to take into 

account, any change in market conditions, demographics or similar matters when 

deliberating disputes or negotiating for future modifications to this Agreement 

made pursuant to this paragraph." 
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259. The erroneous “default” declaration of the county came during the county’s most 

severe economic downturn in decades, in early 2010. 

 
260. Not only did the county "not take into account" a downturn in economic 

conditions, as the Development Agreement required, but the County took a 

diametrically opposite approach and instead initiated their "strong stance" policy. 

 

261. But, upon information and belief, there are no other known instances in which 

York County has tried to destroy someone’s property just because someone 

could or could not get financing.  

 

262. But for no other reason, other than what appeared to be unconstitutional religious 

discrimination, the County singled out MorningStar, refusing to issue any permits 

for completion of the Tower unless MorningStar signed a Development 

Agreement, under which the County sought an excuse to destroy property, which 

is not only a sacred property of MorningStar, but which is the private property of 

MorningStar, and should be of no concern to the County. 

 

263. In this regard, MorningsStar has not received equal treatment, nor has it received 

equal protection of law, as the County has not, upon information and belief, 

predicated the destruction of private property upon “financing.”   

 

264. The “financing” prerequisite, in retrospect, seems to be a ruse that was set into 

the Development Agreement by the County to set a “gotcha” trap to not only 
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block MorningStar from completing its Tower, but to set an excuse to try and 

force MorningStar to destroy the Tower. 

 

265. As noted elsewhere herein, the County did not demand “financing or property 

destruction” dilemmas in the only other two Development Agreements it is known 

to have entered into, with two real estate developers. 

 

266. Only MorningStar was forced into a “financing or property destruction” dilemma. 

 

267. This particular “take a strong stance” email was sent by Mr. Baker on the same 

day as the email circulated by the Chairman of the County Council, Friday June 

22nd, 2010. 

 

268. Mr. Baker's email was circulated at 2:29 p.m., approximately 22 minutes before 

the Chairman of the York County Council launched his emails, as referenced 

above, in which he compared MorningStar to PTL, and made outrageous claims 

about MorningStar trying to “bilk” investors, etc. 

 

269. Like the Chairman, Mr. Baker also took it upon himself to disseminate his 

thoughts about taking a “strong stance” (referred to hereinafter, for the sake of 

simplicity as the “take a strong stance” email) against the religious organization, 

to numerous other County officials. 
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270. For example, Baker sent the “take a strong stance” email to Mr. Chad Williams, 

who, upon information and belief, was a County Council member representing 

the 7th District, and who come upon information and belief, remains on the 

Council as of the date of this filing. 

 

271. Mr. Baker also sent the “take a strong stance” email to Mr. Joe Cox, who, as 

mentioned previously, is a fellow council member and upon information and 

belief, later became Vice Chairman of the Council. 

 

272. Mr. Baker also sent the “take a strong stance” email to Mr. Curwood Chappell, a 

longtime council member who at that time, upon information and belief, 

represented District 5 on the York County Council. 

 

273. Mr. Baker also sent the “take a strong stance” email to Mr. David Harmon, who, 

as  pointed out above, was, upon information belief, a York County Assistant 

County Manager at the time. 

 

274. Mr. Baker also sent the “take a strong stance” email to Mr. Melvin McKeown, 

who, as pointed out earlier, was serving as County Attorney at the time. 

 

275. Mr. Baker also sent the “take a strong stance” email to Linda Norris, who, upon 

information and belief, at that time was serving as executive assistant to the 

county manager.  
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276. Without reciting all the names, suffice it to say that Mr. Baker also sent the “take 

a strong stance” email to several of the same recipients who all were county 

employees or who are county officials, who had also been targeted by the 

Chairman's email. 

 

277. Between the County Manager’s declaration that the county should take a “strong 

stance,” and the Chair of the County Council declaring that MorningStar was like 

PTL, and was seeking to “bilk investors,” or words to that effect, the anti-Christian 

discriminatory die had been set, and a conspiracy to engage in anti-Christian 

discrimination had been set in stone by county officials. 

 
278. Upon information and belief, the County Manager has not urged Council to “take 

a strong stance” by setting forth legal action leading to the destruction of property 

to any other private citizens of York County, who, for whatever reason, might not 

be able to secure financing, and he certainly did not advocate destruction of 

private property in the two other known Development Agreements that the 

County is known to have engaged in.  

 

279. York County officials, led by their most powerful elected official, and the most 

powerful non-elected bureaucrat in the county, now working in concert together, 

were displaying, and circulating emails, evidence of their anti-religious animus, 

and which, by the way, articulated no evidence or no compelling reason for 

attacking the church, or for attacking its members, or for taking action to prevent 
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the church and being able to carry out its religious vision, which  had been set  

forth in writing long before the Development Agreement ever was thought about 

by anyone.  

 

280. The tone of Mr. Baker’s “take a strong stance” email was so strong, and so 

unnecessary, that it made MorningStar Church, and it’s members,  sound like 

that they were an enemy, indeed the political or the legal opponent of York 

County, as opposed to good and upstanding citizens of York County,  entitled to 

the constitutional right of freedom of worship under the First Amendment.  

 

281. These emails were circulated by County officials, all who are required to support 

the Constitution of the United States, were launched against a church, a place of 

worship, a Christian ministry attempting to carry out its worship in its own way, 

without bothering anyone at all.  

 

282. The vindictive emails, and the policy that followed those emails, and the tone that 

was set by the wording of those emails, were designed to orchestrate, and carry 

out a county policy against the church and to prevent and obstruct the church 

and its members from caring out their freedom of worship as they see fit, a 

freedom that is protected by the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution.   
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283. All MorningStar wanted to do, and all MorningStar still desires to do, is to 

complete the construction of its own property, the Tower, which it considers to be 

a sacred as Scripture defines all that is dedicated to The Lord as sacred, and of 

which it considers completing the Tower to be an act of worship.  

 
284. But to complete construction of its Tower, MorningStar believed it needed 

permits from the County, which the County, without any logical reason, let alone 

without any compelling reason, refuses to issue.  

 

285. The tone of the county official’s emails is discriminatory in light of the language 

set down recently in the United States Supreme Court, which has recently held in 

the case of Masterpiece Cakeshop, Ltd., et al., Petitioners v. Colorado Civil 

Rights Commission, et al, Docket number 16-111, 584 U.S. ___ (more) 138 S. 

Ct. 1719 (2018), that “no bureaucratic judgment condemning a sincerely held 

religious belief as “irrational” or “offensive” will ever survive strict scrutiny under 

the First Amendment.”  

 

286. However, unfortunately, that is exactly what the unelected bureaucratic and 

elected official of York County set out to do, as initiated by the venomous and 

anti-religious emails fired off by both the County Manager, and the Chair of the 

County Council, the most powerful politician the county and the most powerful 

unelected bureaucrat in the county, respectfully, and as shown by the County’s 

obstinate and irrational conduct. 
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287. The tone set against MorningStar made it perfectly clear that the County’s goal 

was to first to declare a so-called “default,” then to put MorningStar into a bind so 

that it could not in a timely matter get the bonds issued as required under the 

Development Agreement, and then, to carry out their real objective, which was to 

destroy the Tower. 

 

288. Keep in mind that this default scheme, as evidenced by this discriminatory email 

exchange initiated by the County Manager and Chair of the County Council, 

occurred just a few weeks before the “default” was actually declared. 

 

289. The South Carolina Religious Freedom Act, which restores the compelling state 

interest test as set forth by the United States Supreme Court in the Yoder and 

Sherbert cases as alleged above, would protect against religious discrimination 

by targeting a sacred and religious property without any “compelling state 

interest”, constituted another constitutional violation against the church and its 

members by demonstrating a hateful discrimination against religion, in violation 

of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution. 

 

290. Such conduct also constitutes another constitutional violation against the church 

and its members by demonstrating a hateful discrimination against religion, in 

violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the 
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United States Constitution, and in violation of the South Carolina Religious 

Freedom Act.  

 

291. It was clear by the Chairman's widespread dissemination of his illegal, anti-

religious, discriminatory email, that he was going to use his position of influence 

and power within the mechanisms of county government, to ensure that no one 

within the York County government, either elected officials, or administrative 

officials, or anyone else involved with MorningStar, would feel comfortable in 

attempting to cooperate in a manner that would allow MorningStar to continue 

with its purpose of completing construction of the Heritage Tower to fulfill its  

religious purpose. 

 

292. The strident and aggressive anti-religious tone displayed by both the County 

Manager and the Chairman of the County Council against MorningStar, makes it 

impossible to conclude that the anti-religious animus and venom displayed in 

those emails, coming from the most powerful elected officials in York County, 

was not the driving force that had a subsequent effect on official York County 

governmental policy against MorningStar in its attempt to complete its Tower.  

 

293. Unfortunately, the unconstitutional actions and unconstitutional effects against 

MorningStar by county officials continues, as the county continues to refuse to 

allow MorningStar to complete its Tower, and will not even grant basic 
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maintenance permits so that MorningStar can do routine maintenance for upkeep 

of the Tower. 

  

The Ongoing Nature of The County’s Continued Constitutional Violations.  

 

294. After numerous attempts by MorningStar to reach out to the county to work out 

their differences, and to persuade the county to remove the default and allow 

MorningStar to complete the construction of the Tower, county officials remain 

obstinate and continue to block MorningStar from exercising is First 

Amendment’s right of freedom of worship under the Constitution, and continue to 

carry out the discriminatory policy as first laid out publicly, in the hateful emails as 

laid out by the defendants Motz and Baker, first disseminated in January of 2010.    

 

295. At one point, Morningstar underwent formal mediation process with York County. 

 

296. During this process, a mediation agreement was reached and signed in writing 

by County Manager Jim Baker and Rick Joyner from MorningStar. 

 

297. The agreement, which would have ended the County’s artificial “default,’ only 

needed ratification from York County Council to put the project back on its way to 

completion.  
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298. Then, in a complete reversal after the County Manager signed the Mediation 

agreement, in an action that can only be explained by its blatant anti-religious 

bias, the entire York County Council unanimously declined the agreement 

without any explanation. 

 

299. In the summer of 2017, MorningStar reached out, through counsel, to propose to 

the county of mutual “stand down” in the lawsuit in the York County Court of 

Appeals, whereby each party would take a voluntary dismissal, and the county 

would remove its ongoing “default,” which remains to this day, and MorningStar 

would have one year to then attempt to get bonding and subsequently funding to 

finish out the construction of the Tower. 

 

300. Even though completion of construction the Tower is significant to MorningStar’s 

religious vision, the county refused MorningStar's continued attempts to work out 

differences through negotiations, and still refused to remove its position of a 

“default” from the development agreement that expired five years ago.  

 

301. The county, instead, responded through its counselor of record at the time, Mr. 

Dan Ballou of the York County Bar, that “As I read your letter, the proposal is for 

the prevailing party to completely capitulates the wishes of the losing party.”  

 

302. The tone and attitude as initially set forth in the Chairman's email accusing 

MorningStar of “bilking” and so-called “investors,” and the tone is set forth by 
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former County Manager Baker’s email, encouraging all members the commission 

and others to take a “hard stance,” does prevail throughout, and upon information 

and belief, has led to continued discriminatory treatment against MorningStar, 

even as reflected in the tone of its lawyers communications in August of 2017. 

 

303. The Constitutional violations against MorningStar as set forth herein are ongoing 

and continuous.  

 

304. Even as of the filing of this action, the county continues without any type of 

compelling state interest, to insist that a “default” status exists in a Development 

Agreement” that expired in January of 2013 and thus continues to take away and 

to prevent MorningStar from engaging in its constitutionally-protected worship 

under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, in this case by the 

act of completing the Tower, which MorningStar considers an act of worship to 

God. 

 

York County Did Not Include Punitive Provisions in 

 Other Development Agreements Against Other Parties 

 

305. Upon information and belief, York County has  only entered into a small, limited 

number of Development Agreements with the last 15 to 20 years.  
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306. In fact, based upon York County ‘s response to  recently-served Freedom of 

Information Act requests by MorningStar, it appears that York County only 

entered into three development agreement since the passage of the South 

Carolina Development Agreement Act.   

 

307. These three development agreements include the (1) Development Agreement 

with MorningStar, (2) the Development Agreement with Crescent Allison Creek 

LLC, and (3) the Development agreement with Crescent Resources LLC.  

 

308. All three of these development agreements were entered into in 2008, and 

MorningStar, upon information and belief, is the only church or religious 

organization that York County has ever singled out to require that it enter into a 

development agreement. 

 

309. Therefore, as an act of individually-targeted discrimination, the County has 

placed more stringent requirements against MorningStar, by forcing it into a 

Development Agreement which would lead to the destruction of its property, than 

it has a placed on any other person or organization in the County, including 

private real estate developers.  

 

310. Unless it has withheld information responding to MorningStar’s Freedom of 

Information Act request, which was served up on it in July of 2017, the County 
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has never entered into any other development agreement except for the three 

development agreements that will be described here in.  

 

311. As will be seen below, the County has used radically different treatments and 

standards, granting much more lenient terms in the development agreements 

with the land developers versus the more stringent development agreement 

requirements it imposed upon MorningStar Fellowship Church.  

 

312. As will also be seen below, the Development Agreement which York County 

entered into with MorningStar, under the color of law, and pursuant to the South 

Carolina Development Agreement Act, is the only development agreement that it 

has ever entered into in which it required any private citizen or entity to destroy 

property, in the event of non-performance.  

 

313. The church alone was deceptively targeted under its Development Agreement for 

destruction of property, but the developers were not required to destroy or lose 

any of their property. 

 

Crescent Allison Creek, LLC Development Agreement 

No Requirement for Destruction of Property 

 

314. Upon information and belief, and based upon public records filed with the county, 

York County entered into another Development Agreement with Crescent Allison 
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Creek, LLC, for the development of a property being developed by Crescent 

Allison Creek, on or about June 16, 2008. 

 

315. Like the MorningStar Development Agreement, the Crescent Allison Creek 

Development Agreement was also signed for the county by Mr. James Baker, 

who was in the County Manager, and Mr. Houston “Buddy” Motz, who was in the 

Chair of the County Council, and who later launched and circulated the 

slanderous anti-religious and anti-Christian email to county officials, targeting 

MorningStar. 

 

316. Like the MorningStar Development Agreement, the Crescent Allison Creek 

Development Agreement was also entered into pursuant to the authority of the 

South Carolina Development Agreement Act, “as set forth in Section 6-31-10 

through 6-31-160 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976, as amended).” 

 

317. Unlike the Development Agreement which the county entered into with 

MorningStar, the Crescent Allison Creek Development Agreement had no 

provisions requiring the issuance of bonds, or requiring that bonding be issued 

within some strict 180-day time frame after the County's notice of approval of a 

site development plan.  

 

318. Moreover, there simply is nothing and the Crescent Allison Creek Development 

Agreement which gives the county the power or the authority in any manner to, 
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destroy private property in the event of a “default” or in the event of failure to 

issue any bonding.  

 

319. Likewise, the County entered into another Development Agreement with 

Crescent Resources, LLC, (hereinafter Crescent Resources) on or about 

September 2, 2008. 

 

320. The Crescent Resources Development Agreement was substantially similar to 

the Crescent Allison Resources Development Agreement.  

 

321. Like its Development Agreement with Crescent Allison Creek Resources, the 

County did not require any bonding requirements, and did not contain any 

provision where it (the County) would be able to force destruction of Crescent 

Resources’ property, should Crescent Resources default. 

 

322. By contrast, the County has not given the same equal protection of law to 

MorningStar Church, as it has, placed strict 180-day deadlines for securing 

bonds, and allowed itself the power to destroy MorningStar’s property for their 

failure to meet such arbitrarily-imposed deadlines. 

 

323. Take, for example, at page 5, Section 3(C) of the Development Agreement with 

MorningStar, attached at Exhibit B of the ordinance, entitled “ECONOMIC 

FEASIBILITY,” Under the subheading at Paragraph C, entitled” Bonds or Letter 
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of Credit, the Development Agreement entered into between York County and 

MorningStar, which was forced upon MorningStar by the county, contains 

language which actually empowers the county to destroy the church's property. 

 

324. Here, specifically, is that certain language singled out in MorningStar’s 

Development Agreement, requiring destruction of church property, which at the 

time was valued at nearly $12 million dollars:  

 

 

325. Here, again, with the two land developers, in their development agreements, 

there is simply no strict bonding requirement, nor any 180-day deadline upon 

which they must secure bonding, nor is there any subsequent chronological 

triggering mechanism against the developers for the destruction of any property. 

 

326. The county’s disparate use of its three development agreements, in favoring the 

two developers but, in the words of the former County Manager, taking a “strong 

stance” against the church, by seeking destruction of a sacred Tower, not only 

violates the church’s constitutional right to Equal Protection under the Fourteenth 

Amendment, but also violates the church, and its members their rights to free 

exercise of religion under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. 
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327. Moreover, as previously pointed out, even aside from the County’s disparate 

treatment against MorningStar in the Development Agreement, there is no other 

known instance in which the County Council of York County has ever engaged in 

a policy to require arbitrary destruction of private property, with such destruction 

to be triggered upon the private citizen’s alleged inability to get financing.  

 

328. York County, by using the  same law, the Development Agreement Act,  to 

illegally effectuate unequal treatment among citizens living in York County and 

working in York County and worshipping York County, and therefore violated the 

Equal Protection Clause of 14th Amendment of  the United States Constitution by 

its disparate application of the South Carolina Development Agreement Act to 

give breaks to two parties,  large commercial developers in this case, but to try 

and destroy the sacred property of another party, in this case, a Christian church. 

 

329. Because of the unconstitutional and unreasonable actions of the County, 

MorningStar has suffered damages in the amount of at least $11, 889,00, which 

is the most recent estimate of the value of the Tower that it has been unable to 

use at all as a result of the county’s actions, and furthermore, MorningStar has 

suffered damages above that amount, for its loss in the use of the Tower, in an 

amount to be determined by a jury, on the trial of this action.   

 

330. Based upon the foregoing, therefore, MorningStar sets forth the following causes 

of action against York County. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF THE FREE EXERCISE CLAUSE OF THE 

FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

 

331. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

332. The allegations as set forth above, including, but not limited to, the County's 

unreasonable refusal to remove an “arbitrary: default status and his contract 

negotiations with MorningStar under the development agreement, Constitution 

unreasonable burden interference upon MorningStar’s right to freedom of 

worship under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution.  

 

333. The County's adoption of an ordinance in 2007 to later pave the way for its 

Development Agreement with MorningStar, which incorporates punitive 

measures which would allow the county the force of destruction of a sacred 

building, the Heritage Tower, also constitutes a violation of an infringement of 

MorningStar’s free exercise of worship under the First Amendment of the United 

States Constitution. 

 

334. The County's insistence that MorningStar enter into a Development Agreement to 

begin with, when MorningStar is not a commercial developer, but rather a church, 
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which has its own unique protections  under the Constitution, and the anti-

religious strings that will be attached to the insistence to moist or enter into the 

development agreement, including the possible destruction of a sacred property 

which is Central to MorningStar’s worship, constitutes a violation of MorningStar's 

constitutional rights to free exercise under the First Amendment of the United 

States Constitution. 

 

335. The county’s refusal, even as recently as a spring of 2018, to grant even basic 

minor permits to MorningStar for maintenance work on the Tower, constitutes a 

violation against MorningStar and its members right to free exercise of worship, 

under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, as maintenance of 

the Tower, which Morningstar considers to be a gift from God, is an act of 

worship for Morningstar.  

 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE ACTION VIOLATION OF THE 

OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

 

336. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

337. The anti-religious comments made by the former Chair of the York County 

Council, Mr. Houston “Buddy” Motz, against the Plaintiff MorningStar and its 
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members, as set forth in the allegations above, constitute unlawful religious 

discrimination and thus, a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

 

338. The anti-religious comments made by the former York County Manager, Mr. 

James Baker, against the Plaintiff MorningStar and its members, as set forth in 

the allegations above, constitute unlawful religious discrimination and thus, a 

violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the 

United States Constitution. 

 

339. York County by employing language in its development agreement which takes 

away property, to take away and destroy a building belonging to MorningStar 

church that has significant religious meaning, while in two development 

agreements with two commercial developers, namely Crescent Resources, LLC, 

and Crescent Allison Creek, LLC, but not including language in the development 

agreement for developers that would allow the county to take any property away 

from the developers, or destroy property of the developers, constitutes religious 

discrimination, in violation of Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment, and constitutes an inequitable application of the law also in violation 

of the  Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution. 
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340. Moreover, the unfair requirements placed upon MorningStar Church in its 

development agreement, authorized pursuant to the ordinance passed in 

November 2007, requiring “bonding” requirements, while giving preferential 

treatment to two real estate developers, in their development agreements, also 

entered into as a result of two separated ordinances, whereby no bonding 

requirements were imposed upon the developers, constitutes a violation of 

MorningStar’s right to equal protection of law, as guaranteed by the 14th 

Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

 

341. Moreover, upon information and belief, the fact that the County has never, with 

any other citizens, arbitrarily imposed a requirement of private-party financing, as 

a condition on whether it (the County) could come in and force destruction of 

private property of citizens who already own such property, amounts to a 

violation of Morningstar’s right to equal protection of law, as guaranteed by the 

14th Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

DUE PROCESS CLAUSE ACTION 

VIOLATION OF THE 

OF THE 5th and 14th AMENDMENTS 

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

 

342. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 
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343. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution each 

contain a Due Process clause, which prevent the government from taking a 

private citizen’s life, liberty, or property without due process of law.  

 

344. In this case, it appears that the County is using the Development Agreement and 

the unconstitutional ordnance which authorizes this Development Agreement, as 

a means of attempting to orchestrate destruction of MorningStar’s private 

property and sacred property, without due process of law.  

 

345. But under the Fifth Amendment, as applied to the states and the County who the 

14th amendment, Morningstar would be entitled to do process before the County 

can enter into any type of legal private property. 

 

346. The County’s attempted use of a Development Agreement, under the South 

Carolina Development Agreement Act, which, by the way, does not authorize the  

destruction of private property, cannot be used as a ruse to circumvent the clear 

constitutional right that MorningStar has to due process in the protection of its 

private property.   

 

347. But the County has done just that, by using this Development Agreement in 

discriminatory matter, in a manner that is far harsher than it used in the other two 

cases involving the real estate developers, as a ruse to seek destruction of the 
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church’s property, without allowing the church any constitutional right to due 

process, in violation of the Church’s rights under the 5th and 14th Amendments to 

the United States Constitution. 

 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RELIGIOUS FREEDOM ACT, 

Section 1- 32-10, et seq, of the South Carolina Code Unannotated 

AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

 

348. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

349. The actions as set forth above, including, but not limited to, derogatory and 

religiously discriminatory emails and communications by the defendants Motz 

and Baker, and the County's insistence that MorningStar enter into a 

developmental agreement which  would allow the county to take and destroy 

sacred religious property, and under which the county improperly used a state 

statute, the Developmental Agreement Act, designed for commercial developers, 

against a church, to apply much stricter standards against the church than was 

required against commercial property developers, all constitute illegal and 

unconstitutional impairments and infringements upon religious liberty, and in 

some cases constitute religious discrimination, in violation of the South Carolina 

Religious Freedom Act as set forth above 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 USC Section 1983 

AS TO DEFENDANTS MOTZ & BAKER 

 

350. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

351. The actions as set forth above, including, but not limited to, derogatory and 

religiously discriminatory emails and communications by the defendants Motz 

and Baker, and the wide dissemination of those emails to other politicians on the 

County Council, and to county staff members, and others, and by the apparent 

concerted effort between  Motz, in his capacity as Chairman of the County 

Council, and Baker, in his capacity as County Manager, to block MorningStar 

from completing the Heritage Tower project,  a building owned by MorningStar 

with  independent religious significance, and in fact actions by both defendants to 

seek to bring about destruction of  the said Tower, and to degrade MorningStar, 

a church, and its ability to worship as it sees fit, constitute a violation of 42 USC 

Section 1983  of the United States Code.  

 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

VIOLATION OF 42 USC Section 1985 

AS TO DEFENDANTS MOTZ & BAKER 

  

352. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 
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353. The actions as set forth above, including, but not limited to, derogatory and 

religiously discriminatory emails and communications by the defendants Motz 

and Baker, acting in concert with one another, and with a meeting of the minds, 

setting out to engage in the wide dissemination of those emails to other 

politicians on the County Council, and to county staff members, and others, and 

by the apparent concerted effort between Motz, in his capacity as Chairman of 

the County Council, and Baker, in his capacity as County Manager, to block 

MorningStar from completing the Heritage Tower project, a building owned by 

MorningStar with  independent religious significance, and in seeking to bring 

about destruction of the said Tower, constitute a conspiracy to violate the civil 

rights and federally protected religious rights of MorningStar and its members, in 

violation of 42 USC Section 1985  of the United States Code.  

 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AS TO DEFENDANT YORK COUNTY 

 

354. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

355. Because the Development Agreement as referenced in this lawsuit expired in 

January of 2013, and because Heritage Tower has been declared as a sacred 

building and monument by MorningStar, central to its worship under the First 

Amendment the United States constitution, MorningStar requests that the court 
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issue a temporary restraining order and a permanent injunction against York 

County, prohibiting it from taking any action whatsoever to attempt to destroy the 

Heritage Tower. 

 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION 

Article 1, Section 2 

 

356. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

357. Consistent with the prohibitions of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution, and the strict, “compelling state interest” standards of the South 

Carolina Religious Freedom Act, likewise, the arbitrary passage of this ordinance 

by the York County Council, which imposes religious restrictions against 

MorningStar Church, leading to the attempted destruction of a sacred property to 

be used for worship, without articulating any “compelling state interest”, also 

violates Article 1 Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution. 

 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION 

Article VIII, Section 17 

 

358. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 
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359. Consistent with the prohibitions of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution, and the strict, “compelling state interest” standards of the South 

Carolina Religious Freedom Act, likewise, the arbitrary passage of this ordinance 

by the York County Council, which imposes religious restrictions against 

MorningStar Church, leading to the attempted destruction of a sacred property to 

be used for worship, without articulating any “compelling state interest”, also 

violates Article VIII, Section 17 for the South Carolina Constitution, which 

prohibits the passages of any laws or ordinances which violated the South 

Carolina Constitution. 

 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

28 U.S.C. § 2201 

AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

 

360. MorningStar re-alleges and re-incorporates the allegations as set forth above. 

 

361. Based upon the foregoing, MorningStar requests a Declaratory Judgment, 

pursuant to  28 U.S.C. § 2201,  that: 

 

1. That the Ordinance adopted by the York County Council in November of 

2007 violates the free exercise clause of the United States Constitution by 
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failing to articulate a “compelling state interest” for the state's desire to 

potentially destroy a sacred Monument to MorningStar Church,  the 

Heritage Tower, and thus, by failing  to enact less stringent protective 

measures other than seeking to destroy a  sacred church building and 

monument, namely the Heritage Tower, is unconstitutional on its face  in 

violation of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution . 

 

2. That the Ordinance adopted by the York County Council in November of 

2007 Article 1, Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution by failing to 

articulate a “compelling state interest” for the state's desire to potentially 

destroy a sacred Monument to MorningStar Church,  the Heritage Tower, 

and thus, by failing  to enact less stringent protective measures other than 

seeking to destroy a  sacred church building and monument, namely the 

Heritage Tower, is unconstitutional on its face  in violation of Article 1, 

Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution. 

 

3. That the Ordinance adopted by the York County Council in November of 

2007 Article 1, Section 2 of the South Carolina Constitution by failing to 

articulate a “compelling state interest” for the state's desire to potentially 

destroy a sacred Monument to MorningStar Church, the Heritage Tower, 

and thus, by failing  to enact less stringent protective measures other than 

seeking to destroy a sacred church building and monument, namely the 

Heritage Tower, is unconstitutional on its face in violation of Article VIII, 
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Section 17 of the South Carolina Constitution, which prohibits local 

government from passing  local ordinances that violate the Constitution. 

 

4. That, because of the unconstitutionality of the County ordinance (No. 

1807-a) permitting the Development Agreement, that the Development 

Agreement executed between Morningstar and the County never went into 

effect, and therefore, the default declared by the County against 

Morningstar also never legally went into effect.  

 

5. That, even if the ordinance on its face were not violative of the Free 

Exercise Clause of the First Amendment, that an unconstitutional 

discriminatory effect is applied in this case against MorningStar, by the 

Ordinance, which violates the Free Exercise Clause of the First 

Amendment the United States Constitution, and thus, application of the 

statute is unconstitutional as applied to MorningStar, a church, seeking to 

exercise its constitutionally-protected right of free exercise of religion. 

 

6. The County's attempt to apply the South Carolina Development 

Agreement Act, in a case involving a church seeking to carry out its right 

of free exercise to religion under the United States Constitution, which in 

this case was attempting to carry out its desire to worship, being 

manifested in the completed construction of a nearly complete Tower that 

currently sits on his property, a Tower which will be used as a valuable 
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instrument of us worship, is a violation  of the  Free Exercise Clause of the 

First Amendment of the United States Constitution and a violation of 

Article, 2 Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution. 

 

7. The County's attempt to apply the South Carolina Development 

Agreement Act, in a case involving a church seeking to carry out its right 

of free exercise of  religion under the United States Constitution,  being 

manifested in the completed construction of a nearly complete Tower that 

currently sits on his property, which is considered by the church to be a 

building of sacred significance, and which will be used as a valuable 

instrument of us worship, is a violation  of the South Carolina Religious 

Freedom Act. 

 

8. That the email drafted and circulated by former chair of the York County 

Council Houston Motz, by attacking MorningStar, a Christian Church 

attempting to exercise its constitutional rights to worship, and the 

slanderous accusations within his email, constitutes religious 

discrimination and was a violation of the 14th Amendment United States 

Constitution, which guarantees equal protection of law, and constitutes 

unconstitutional discrimination based upon religion. 

 

9. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Council Houston Motz, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar, a 
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Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional rights to worship, 

and the slanderous accusations within his email, constitutes a violation of 

the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution.  

 

10. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Manager James Baker, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar 

and urging that the Council to “Take a strong Stance” against 

MorningStar, a Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional 

rights to worship, and the slanderous accusations within his email, 

constitutes a violation of the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment 

of the United States Constitution.  

 

11. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Council Houston Motz, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar, a 

Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional rights to worship, 

and the slanderous accusations within his email, constitutes a violation of 

the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United 

States Constitution.  

 

12. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Manager James Baker, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar 

and urging that the Council to “Take a strong Stance” against 
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MorningStar, a Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional 

rights to worship, and the slanderous accusations within his email, 

constitutes a violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution.  

 

13. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Council Houston Motz, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar, a 

Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional rights to worship, 

and the slanderous accusations within his email, constitutes a violation of 

the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act. 

 

14. That the email drafted and circulated by former Chair of the York County 

Manager James Baker, as referred to herein, by attacking MorningStar 

and urging that the Council to “Take a strong Stance” against 

MorningStar, a Christian Church attempting to exercise its constitutional 

rights to worship, and the slanderous accusations within his email, 

constitutes a violation of the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act.  

 

15. That, even if the application of the effect of the County’s use of the 

Development Agreement in this case were constitutionally permissible, 

and even if the attempt to use the “default”  during the course of the active 

five year period of the Development Agreement were constitutionally 

permissible, then the County’s continued attempt to now claim a “default”  

by York County, after the clear expiration date of the Development 

0:18-cv-03077-JMC     Date Filed 11/14/18    Entry Number 1     Page 92 of 96



93 

Agreement,  which expired on or about January 12, 2013, constitutes an 

ongoing impermissible violation of MorningStar’s First Amendment Right 

for free exercise of worship under the United States Constitution, in that 

the continued use of the “default” designation hinders completion of the 

construction of the Heritage Tower, with the physical completion of the 

Tower being considered an act of worship to the church and its members. 

 

 

16. That should be Court find the ordinance adopted by the County in 

November of 2007 to be unconstitutional as set forth above, then the 

Development Agreement itself, which was referenced in the ordinance and 

which MorningStar was subsequently forced to sign, should be declared 

void ab initio because it was based solely upon and unconstitutional 

ordinance. 

17. That the County's attempt to enter into a Development Agreement with 

MorningStar in this case, which calls arbitrarily for the destruction of 

MorningStar’s Property if MorningStar does not get financing or secure 

bonding, amounts to an unconstitutional violation of Morningstar’s right to 

due process under the 5th and 14th Amendment of United States 

Constitution.  

 

Wherefore, MorningStar prays the court as follows: 
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1. For a judgment on the merits of all the causes of action as set forth above. 

 

2. For a restraining order against York County to prevent it from continuing to apply 

a “default” designation against MorningStar under the Development Agreement 

between York County and MorningStar, that expired on or about January 12th 

2013. 

 

3. For a permanent injunction to be issued against York County preventing it from 

taking any action to destroy the Heritage Tower, located on the property of 

MorningStar Church.  

 

4. For a trial by jury on any and all issues to wish there may be a genuine question 

of fact. 

 

5. For monetary damages awarded to MorningStar, as set forth above, and in an 

amount to be determined by a jury, for MorningStar’s loss of use of Heritage 

Tower as a result of the County’s unconstitutional actions.  

 

6. For an order requiring the defendants to play MorningStar’s attorney’s fees and 

costs related to this action. 

 

7. For such other and further relief, as the court, in its great wisdom and discretion, 
would deem just and proper.  
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Dated: November 13, 2018 

 
/S/Donald M. Brown, Jr. 
Donald M. Brown, Jr. 

SC Bar Number 9902 
NC Bar Number 14178 
Federal ID Number 6307 
brownandassociatespllc@gmail.com 

 
Park South Professional Center 
10440 Park Road 
Suite 200 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28210 
(704) 542.2525 
(704) 541-4751 (fax) 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
MorningStar Fellowship Church 
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